City of Tampa Ethics Commission

Rules

And

Regulations

Effective 1/20/05

As Amended Through 10/15/15

As Amended Through 11/28/23

Table of Contents

ARTICLE A: General Provisions
Section 1 - Purpose of Rules
Section 2 - Meetings
Section 3 - Quorum
Section 4 – Assistance to the Commission
Section 5 – Appeals
ARTICLE B: Organization, Selection of Chairman and Vice Chairman
Section 1 - Commission Membership and Term of Office5
Section 2 - Oath of Office; Campaign Restrictions
Section 3 - Selection of Chairman and Vice Chairman
ARTICLE C: Complaints of Violations
Section 1 - Filing of Complaint6
Section 2 – Complaint Processing
Section 3 – Public Hearings – Eligibility9
Section 4 – Proceedings for Hearings
Section 5 - Public Hearings – Notification and Conduct
Section 6 – Recommendation
ARTICLE D: Advisory Opinions
ARTICLE E: Appeals of Denied Employee Requests for
Approval of Non-City Employment/Private Business Entity
ARTICLE F: Appeals by Lobbyists for Imposed Fines for Failure to File Lobbyist
Annual Expenditure Report
ARTICLE G: Other Commission Duties
Section 1 - Investigatory Powers
Section 2 – Annual Reports14
Section 3 – Periodic Reports
Section 4 – Press Policy
Section 5 - Training
ARTICLE H: Severability and Waiver

ARTICLE A: General Provisions

Section 1. Purpose of Rules

- a. It is the purpose of these Rules and Regulations (hereinafter referred to as Rules) to establish general policy and procedures for managing the responsibilities of the City of Tampa Ethics Commission (hereinafter referred to as Commission).
- b. Amendments to the Rules shall be proposed at a regular meeting of the Commission and voted upon at the next regular meeting; however, upon the unanimous consent of the members present at a regular meeting, amendments to the Rules may be proposed and the Rules may be changed during the same regular meeting.

Section 2. Meetings

- a. The regular meeting of the Commission shall be held the first Thursday of the first month of each quarter at 3 p.m. The Commission may vary its meeting site to accommodate its needs and to accomplish its purposes. Notice of all meetings shall include the notice of the location of the meeting.
- b. Additional or special meetings as determined by the Commission or when called by the Commission Chairman, including those required for holding hearings or conducting other business under the responsibility and authority of the Commission, shall be scheduled as necessary with due notice and public notice of the meeting.
- c. If there is insufficient business or the Commission Chairman determines that it is not possible to obtain a quorum, a meeting may be canceled by the Chairman and notice given to all Commission members with public notice of the cancellation of the meeting.
- d. The City of Tampa Ethics Officer shall be responsible for posting proper public notice of all Commission meetings.
- e. No later than 7 calendar days prior to the Commission meeting, an agenda together with all written materials to be considered by the Commission shall be provided to the Commission.
- f. Only matters that have been placed on the agenda may be considered by the Commission provided that if a matter has been submitted in writing to the Chairman within two days prior to the meeting, the matter may be considered upon approval of the Commission.
- g. The board shall keep accurate and complete minutes of its business. The Ethics Officer shall be responsible for the compilation of the minutes for the Commission's approval and shall be the official custodian of the Commission's meeting minutes.

h. Public Comment

- 1) All individuals who request an opportunity to speak at a public Commission meeting will be allowed to speak within the guidelines provided in this rule chapter.
- The Commission will allocate a period of thirty minutes maximum for public comment at the beginning of a Commission meeting following approval of the minutes. Each speaker will be allocated up to three minutes within which to speak. The Ethics Officer or his/her designee will keep time for each speaker and inform the Chairman when the speaker's time has expired, using a practicable timing device.
- The Chairman will, where deemed appropriate, encourage members of an organization, faction or group to defer their time to a representative of their organization, faction or group to speak on their behalf. At any Commission meeting wherein a large number of individuals desire to speak as representative on behalf of that organization, faction or group. The representative will be allocated five minutes maximum within which to speak.
- 4) The Ethics Officer or his/her designee will maintain a list of individuals who desire to speak during a Commission meeting so identified as the Comment Form. The list will indicate the speaker's name and address; the name of the speaker's organization, if any, whether the speaker desires to be heard through a representative; the item upon which the speaker desires to comment; and whether the speaker supports, opposes, or remains neutral as to the item.
- If a speaker becomes disorderly or fails to confine remarks to the subject matter identified on the submitted Comment Form, the speaker can be cautioned by the Chairman. If the speaker fails to comply after being warned by the Chairman, the speaker will be barred by the Chairman from additional comment and may be declared out of order. A speaker declared out of order will be requested to stop speaking and may be physically removed from the meeting room.

Section 3. Quorum

- a. Three members physically present at the public meeting place shall constitute a quorum. In the event that a member is physically unable to attend a meeting due to medical treatment or physical infirmity yet is available telephonically, his/her attendance shall be noted at roll call and the minutes will reflect his/her participation via telephone. Telephonic participation as indicated in this section shall include any interactive communication by electronic or other qualified means verified by the City Attorney's office.
- b. The Commission shall keep records of the attendance of all members. In the event a member of the Commission is unable to attend a meeting, he or she shall

- advise Ethics Officer or Commission Chairman in advance of the Commission meeting.
- c. Three majority votes shall be required for all complaints and matters before the Commission. The Commission will consider a petition to be heard by the full Commission rather than a majority but shall retain the discretion to hold the hearing with a quorum or continue the hearing for the full Commission.

Section 4. Assistance to the Commission

- a. The Commission is authorized to call upon appropriate agencies of City government for such professional assistance as may be needed in the discharge of its duties.
- b. The City Attorney's Office shall provide legal assistance to the Commission. In the event the City Attorney determines that he or any attorney in his Office has a conflict of interest which prevents the City Attorney's Office from providing impartial representation to the Commission, the City shall engage outside legal counsel to provide the necessary legal assistance to the Commission.
- c. The services of other departments, boards and agencies of the City may be made available to the Commission at its request, subject to their ability and capacity to provide them. All City agencies shall cooperate with the Commission in the exercise of the Commission's responsibilities.

Section 5. Appeals

a. Appeals from any decision of the Commission shall be to the 13th Judicial Circuit Court as provided by law.

ARTICLE B: Organization, Selection of Chairman and Vice Chairman

Section 1. Commission Membership and Term of Office.

- a. The members of the Commission shall be appointed as provided in the Code of Ethics, Division 8, Section 2-651.
- b. The members of the Commission shall serve staggered terms of four (4) years each, provided that of the original members, two (2) members shall be appointed for a term of two (2) years and three (3) shall be appointed for a term of four (4) years, and each member shall continue to serve until their successor has been appointed.
- c. A vacancy occurring during or at the expiration of a member's term on the Commission shall be filled as provided in the Code of Ethics.

Section 2. Oath of Office; Campaign Restrictions.

- a. Before entering upon the duties of office, each appointee to the Commission shall take the prescribed oath of office.
- b. No individual, while a member of the Commission shall hold or campaign for any elective political office, hold office in any political party or political committee, actively participate in or contribute to any political campaign for City office, be employed by the City, or allow his or her name to be used by a campaign in support of or against any candidate for City office or any City referendum or other City ballot question. Nothing herein shall preclude a member from signing a petition in support of or against any referendum or other ballot question.

Section 3. Selection of Chairman and Vice Chairman.

- a. Members of the Commission shall elect a Chairman and Vice-chairman annually at the first regular meeting in June and shall assume the offices thereupon.
- b. The Vice-chairman shall serve as Chairman in the absence, disqualification, or disability of the Chairman.
- c. In the event that the Vice-chairman can no longer serve as the Vice-chairman or ceases to be a member of the Commission, the members of the Commission shall elect a new Vice-chairman to serve the remainder of the term of office.
- d. In the event that both the Chairman and the Vice-chairman are not present at a meeting, the Ethics Officer shall open the meeting and request that the Commission members present nominate and elect an ad hoc chairman for the meeting at which time the elected member shall serve as Chairman for the remainder of the meeting.

ARTICLE C: Complaints of Violations

Section 1. Filing of Complaint

- a. In no event shall a complaint under this section against a candidate in any City election be filed or the filing of or intention of filing such a complaint be disclosed on the day of any such election or within the five (5) days immediately preceding the date of the election.
- b. All complaints must be filed on the form adopted by the Commission which shall require the identity of the complainant(s), the identification of the section(s) of the Code of Ethics alleged to have been violated, the name(s) of the alleged violator, and such other information as the Commission determines necessary for the proper filing of a complaint.
 - 1) Said form shall indicate the date received by the Ethics Officer and shall be assigned a sequential complaint file number, which shall be entered on the complaint form.
 - 2) All documents received with the complaint form shall be entered into the complaint file.
 - In the event that a complaint is received that has not been filed on the form adopted by the Commission, the Ethics Officer shall notify the complainant of the requirement of the form and shall provide a copy of the form for the complainant to resubmit the complaint in proper form.
 - 4) Complaints need not be as precise as would be required by the rules of civil procedure and shall be deemed sufficient if the complaint under oath upon knowledge or belief alleges matters which, if true, would constitute a violation of the Code.
- .c After a complaint has been filed, the Commission may permit the complainant to withdraw the complaint.

Section 2. Complaint Processing

- a. Within five (5) working days after receipt of a complaint by the Ethics Officer, a copy shall be transmitted to the alleged violator by the Ethics Officer. Said transmittal shall be of a form approved by the Commission and shall include information to the alleged violator that the complaint is confidential and that no action or response is required until further contact from the Ethics Office.
 - 1) A copy of the transmittal letter to the alleged violator, with a copy of the complaint attached, shall be forwarded to the members of the Commission on the same date as the notification is provided to the alleged violator.
- b. Within five (5) working days after receipt of a complaint by the Ethics Officer and on the same date as the notification provided in "a" (above), the complainant shall receive notice acknowledging the receipt of the complaint and notification of its transmittal to the alleged violator. Said transmittal shall be of a form approved by

the Commission and shall include information to the complainant that the complaint is confidential and that no action or response is required until further contact from the Ethics Office.

- c. A preliminary investigation shall first be undertaken by the Commission to determine if the facts alleged in the complaint constitute probable cause to believe that a violation has occurred.
 - 1) The Ethics Officer, with the assistance of the City Legal Department, shall prepare information for the Commission for its preliminary investigation and shall present a recommendation to the Commission regarding findings which shall include the following:
 - a) Determination that the complaint is in proper form.
 - b) Determination that the Commission has jurisdiction over the matter; that is whether it concerns the ordinance under the Commission's jurisdiction.
 - c) Determination that the alleged violation occurred on or after January 1, 2004.
 - d) Determination that the alleged violation occurred or could have been reasonably known to occur within two years of the date the sworn complaint is filed.
 - e) Determination that probable cause exists to believe a violation of criminal law has been committed by an alleged violator, in which case the Commission shall refer such evidence to the appropriate law enforcement agency for prosecution.
 - f) In the event that the Ethics Officer determines, with the concurrence of the Legal Department, that the complaint is not sufficient regarding items "a" through "e" above, a recommendation to dismiss the complaint must be presented to the Commission. The Commission shall meet in executive session and may find the complaint to be insufficient; dismiss it, and notify the complainant that no investigation will be made or may take such
 - other action as may be appropriate. In any case where a complaint is found insufficient and dismissed, the public report and order dismissing the complaint together with the complaint itself and all documents related thereto shall become a public record and constitute a public record.
 - g) In the event that the Ethics Officer determines, with the concurrence of the Legal Department, that the complaint is sufficient regarding items "a" through "e" above, the preliminary investigation shall commence.
 - (1) The preliminary investigation shall be limited to the allegations in the complaint, but shall include an

- investigation of all facts and persons materially related to the complaint at issue.
- (2) The Ethics Officer (or designee) shall meet with the complainant to gather any additional information including clarification of dates, names of witnesses, copies or identification of related documents, etc. that would aid in the further investigation of the complaint.
- (3) The Ethics Officer (or designee) shall meet with the alleged violator and any other witnesses to gather any information and to collect all evidence materially related to the allegation.
- (4) The Ethics Officer shall prepare a report for presentation to the Commission which shall contain a synopsis of all pertinent information obtained through interview of witnesses, documentary evidence or other sources that supports the investigator's findings and recommendations.
- (5) The Ethics Officer shall notify the complainant and alleged violator of the date and time the complaint will be presented to the Ethics Commission.
- d. The Ethics Officer shall present the report of the preliminary investigation to the Commission in executive session.
 - 1) If the Commission finds no probable cause to believe that a violation has occurred, the Commission shall dismiss the complaint. The complaint shall then become a matter of public record, together with a written statement of the findings of the preliminary investigation and a summary of the facts, all of which the Commission shall transmit to the complainant and the alleged violator.
 - 2) If the Commission finds probable cause to believe that a violation has occurred, it shall so notify the complainant and the alleged violator in writing. Such notification and all documents made or received in the disposition of the complaint shall then become public records.

Section 3. Public Hearings - Eligibility

- a. Any person who the Commission finds probable cause to believe has violated the Code shall be entitled to a public hearing provided that the person notifies the Commission by written request within thirty (30) days following the receipt of the probable cause notification by certified mail.
- b. Persons who fail to file the written request within the time limit shall have waived the right to a public hearing.
- c. The Commission may on its own motion require a public hearing and may conduct such further investigation, as it deems necessary.

Section 4. Proceedings for Hearings

- a. The hearing shall be conducted in a manner that affords procedural and substantive due process rights. These include notice of the appeals hearing; the opportunity to be heard; the opportunity to be represented by counsel; the opportunity to present oral and written testimony; the opportunity to make legal arguments in his or her defense. The Commission shall then make formal findings of fact and conclusions of law to support its decision.
- The proceedings shall be recorded by recording instruments or by a court reporter. The person requesting the hearing may, at his or her own expense, provide a court reporter or recording instruments. The Commission may provide a court reporter. No transcript of the proceedings shall be prepared unless requested by the Commission. If a transcript is requested to be prepared by a court reporter, the requestor shall pay the expense of the transcription. If the Commission is requested to prepare a transcript from recording instruments and the Commission grants such a request, the requestor shall pay the Commission the actual cost of the transcription. If a court reporter records the proceedings, the court reporter's transcript shall be the official transcript and shall become a part of the official file of the Ethics Officer. The Commission shall swear witnesses and their testimony shall be taken under oath.
- c. The decision of the Commission shall be final. Should the requestor wish to pursue his or her appeal further, he or she can appeal to the 13th judicial circuit court of the State of Florida.

Section 5. Public Hearings – Notification and Conduct

- a. The complainant and the alleged violator shall be given notice in writing of the date and time set for such public hearing at least ten (10) days before the public hearing is held.
- b. The hearing shall be conducted in accordance with all requirements of due process of law and in accordance with Section 4.

- c. Any person filing such a sworn complaint and any alleged violator may appear before the Commission in person or by counsel and shall be entitled to question witnesses and present evidence in accordance with these rules.
- d. The Commission shall swear witnesses.
- e. The Ethics Office, with the assistance or by representation of the Legal Department, shall present the findings of probable cause. The alleged violator may then present his or her case. The proceedings shall be guided by the rules of civil procedure.
- f. Within ten (10) days after the public hearing unless the Commission determines additional time is needed, the Commission shall make and promulgate written findings of fact and conclusions based thereon, including a determination as to the propriety of the conduct of the alleged violator all of which shall be transmitted to the complainant, the alleged violator and, in the event that it is found and determined that a violation has occurred, to the official, the City Council or other appropriate body for appropriate action.
- g. In any case in which the Commission finds probable cause to believe a violation of criminal law has been committed by an alleged violator or where the Commission finds probable cause to believe that a complainant has committed perjury in regard to any document filed with or any testimony given before the Commission, it shall refer such evidence to the appropriate law enforcement agency for prosecution.

Section 6. Recommendation

- a. If the Commission determines that a violation to the Code has occurred, the Commission shall make a recommendation to the official, City Council, or other appropriate body or person to institute appropriate action for correction or rectification of that conduct or for the censure, suspension or removal from office of the official or employee, and may recommend appropriate action to void any transaction with a public body or any determination made by a public body.
- b. The official, City Council, or other appropriate public body or person taking such action may base any action it takes upon the written findings of fact, conclusions and determination of the Commission and shall institute such action as it deems appropriate within sixty (60) days of the promulgation of the Commission's findings, conclusions, and determination.

ARTICLE D: Advisory Opinions

- a. Every elected officer, appointed officer, candidate for City office, or City employee, when in doubt about the applicability and interpretation of any City ethics law to himself or herself in a particular context, may submit in writing the facts of the situation to the Commission with a request for an advisory opinion to establish the standard of public duty.
- b. Any officer or employee who has the power to hire or terminate employees may seek an advisory opinion from the Commission as to the application of the provisions of the ethics laws to any such employee or applicant for employment.
- c. Any affected city officer or employee who is required to seek a conflict of interest opinion from the commission prior to the submittal of a bid, response, or application of any type to contract with the city by the employee or his immediate family as provided by Section 2-514(b) of the Code of Ethics, shall seek such conflict of interest opinion through use of these advisory opinion rules.
- d. A request for an advisory opinion shall be in writing in the form of a letter to the Commission. The request may be mailed, hand-delivered, or faxed to the Ethics Office for processing.
- e. The request for an advisory opinion shall describe a specific factual situation. The facts may be real or hypothetical. The request must provide sufficient detail to permit the Commission to provide a response to the request.
- f. Upon receipt of a request for an advisory opinion, the Ethics Officer, with the assistance of the Legal Department, will determine whether the request concerns a matter under the Commission's jurisdiction and is made by a person eligible to receive an advisory opinion.
- g. Requests shall be considered at the next scheduled Commission meeting if received at least five days prior to the meeting. Items received after that date will be considered on the next agenda.
- h. If the commission determines that it will answer the request, the Ethics Office will assist the Legal Department in the preparation of a recommended opinion. If the request is one the Commission cannot answer, the Ethics Officer shall notify the person making the request that the request cannot be answered.
- i. When an advisory opinion is rendered by the Commission each opinion shall be numbered, dated and published; filed opinions shall be available for public access at the Ethics Office.
- j. Such opinion, unless amended or revoked, shall be binding on the conduct of the officer, employee, or candidate who sought the opinion or with references to whom the opinion was sought, unless material facts were omitted or misstated in the request for the advisory opinion.

ARTICLE E: Appeals of Denied Employee Requests for Approval of Non-City Employment/Private Business Entity

- a. Within five (5) working days after receipt by the Ethics Office of a denial by a department director (or the Mayor for department directors) of an employee's request for approval of non-city employment/active participation private business entity, the Ethics Officer shall transmit notification to the employee and the department director (or Mayor as applicable) acknowledging the receipt of the denial. Said notification shall be of a form approved by the Commission.
- b. The Ethics Officer shall gather preliminary information such as the job description, the department organizational chart, and statements from the department director and the employee regarding the reasons that they believe the request should be approved or denied.
- c. The Ethics Officer shall notify the Legal Department of the information so that additional research or advice regarding conflicts of non-city employment/private business entity can be completed as needed.
- d. Appeals shall be considered at the next scheduled Commission meeting if received at least five days prior to the meeting. Items received after that date will be considered on the next agenda. The department director and the employee shall be notified of the date of the Commission meeting.
- e. The Ethics Office, with the assistance of the Legal Department, shall present the information to the Ethics Commission. The employee may present information in support of their appeal.
- f. The decision of the Commission to confirm or to overrule the denial shall be indicated on the Request form with the signature and date of the Chairman.

ARTICLE F: Appeals by Lobbyists for Imposed Fines for Failure to File Lobbyist Annual Expenditure Report

- a. Within five (5) working days after receipt by the Ethics Office of a request for a hearing and appeal of a fine by a lobbyist, the Ethics Officer shall transmit notification to the lobbyist acknowledging the receipt of the request and appeal. Said notification shall be of a form approved by the Commission.
- b. The Ethics Officer shall gather pertinent information such as the copies of the letter(s) notifying the lobbyist of due dates and fines, the original disclosure form or sign in sheet(s), and any other official correspondence.
- c. The Ethics Officer shall provide copies of the preliminary information to the lobbyist, the Ethics Commission, and the Legal Department in advance of the hearing date.
- d. Appeals shall be considered at the next scheduled Commission meeting if received at least fifteen (15) days prior to the meeting. Items received after that date shall be considered at the next agenda. The lobbyist shall be notified in writing of the date of the Ethics Commission meeting on a form approved by the Commission and shall be mailed certified, return receipt requested.
- e. If a lobbyist is geographically located outside of Hillsborough County, he or she may request to attend the appeal hearing telephonically. Notification of the ability to request to attend telephonically must be included in the original notification of the Commission meeting. This request must be in writing and must be received by the Commission at least five (5) days prior to the scheduled appeal hearing.
- f. The Ethics Office shall present all information in support of the issuance of fines to the Ethics Commission. The lobbyist, or his or her representative, may present information in support of his or her appeal.
- g. The decision of the Commission to confirm or to overrule the implementation of fines shall be issued at the conclusion of the hearing. The decision shall be included in the minutes and provided to the lobbyist in writing, dated no later than fifteen (15) days after the hearing. If the fines are upheld, the Commission will notify the appropriate City office for collection of said fines.

ARTICLE G: Other Commission Duties

Section 1. Investigatory Powers

a. The Commission may, on its own initiative, seek information and gather facts for the purpose of investigating any circumstance or situation of which the Commission may become aware that appears to violate or may potentially violate an acceptable standard of conduct for City officers and employees. If, as a result of such an investigation, the Commission determines the need for remedial or preventative legislation, the Commission may make such recommendations to the City Council as it deems appropriate.

Section 2. Annual Reports

- a. The Commission shall submit to the City Council periodically a report of its work and recommendations for legislation deemed necessary to improve the ethics laws and their enforcement, which shall be dutifully considered by the City Council. Said report shall be filed annually by October 1 and cover the period June 1 to June 1.
- b. The Commission shall receive annual reports from the Ethics Officer regarding the compliance or non-compliance with financial reporting, gift reporting, lobbying registration and reporting, and ethics education and certification requirements of this Code. The annual report shall also be filed with the Mayor and City Council. Said report shall be filed annually by October 1 and cover the period June 1 to June 1.

Section 3. Periodic Reports

- a. The Ethics Officer shall be responsible for documenting compliance with the financial disclosure, gift disclosure, lobbying registration and reporting, and ethics education and certification requirements of this Code for all officers and appointed employees.
- b. At the close of the reporting period, the Ethics Officer shall notify any individual who has failed to timely comply with financial disclosure, gift disclosure, lobbying registration and reporting, or ethics education and certification requirements of this Code. After expiration of any additional time to comply with said reporting requirement, the City Ethics Officer may request the Commission to institute action.

Section 4. Press Policy

a. All requests for information regarding the actions of the Commission shall be submitted to the Chair. Individual members of the Commission do not offer public comments to the press or individuals seeking opinions from the Commission.

Section 5. Training

a. The Commission shall assist in the preparation of materials and programs designed to assist persons in complying with the ethics laws. The Commission shall work with the Ethics Officer in establishing, presenting, and expanding the City's Ethics Education Program.

ARTICLE H: Severability and Waiver

a. Each and every clause of these Rules shall be deemed separable from each other clause. In the event any clause or clauses shall be finally determined to be in violation of any law such clause or clauses shall be deemed of no force and effect and unenforceable. Any such determined violation shall not impair the validity and enforceability of the remaining Rules, including any and all provisions in the remainder of any clause, sentence, or paragraph in which the offending language might appear.